Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Progress in Lipid Research

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/plipres

Lipids in exosomes: Current knowledge and the way forward

Tore Skotland ^{a,b,*}, Kirsten Sandvig ^{a,b,c}, Alicia Llorente ^{a,b}

^a Department of Molecular Cell Biology, Institute for Cancer Research, Oslo University Hospital-The Norwegian Radium Hospital, 0379 Oslo, Norway

^b Centre for Cancer Biomedicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, 0379 Oslo, Norway

^c Department of Molecular Biosciences, University of Oslo, 0316 Oslo, Norway

A R T I C L E I N F O

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 16 November 2016 Received in revised form 14 March 2017 Accepted 21 March 2017 Available online 23 March 2017

Keywords: Extracellular vesicles Lipid species Rafts Membrane bilayer Exosome release Biomarkers Lipids are essential components of exosomal membranes, and it is well-known that specific lipids are enriched in exosomes compared to their parent cells. In this review we discuss current knowledge about the lipid composition of exosomes. We compare published data for different lipid classes in exosomes, and what is known about their lipid species, i.e. lipid molecules with different fatty acyl groups. Moreover, we elaborate on the hypothesis about hand-shaking between the very-long-chain sphingolipids in the outer leaflet and PS 18:0/18:1 in the inner leaflet, and we propose this to be an important mechanism in membrane biology, not only for exosomes. The similarity between the lipid composition of exosomes, HIV particles, and detergent resistant membranes, used as lipid rafts models, is also discussed. Furthermore, we summarize knowledge about the role of specific lipids and lipid metabolizing enzymes on the formation and release of exosomes. Finally, the use of exosomal lipids as biomarkers and how the lipid composition of exosomes may be of importance for researchers aiming to use exosomes as drug delivery vehicles is discussed. In conclusion, we have summarized what is presently known about lipids in exosomes and identified issues that should be taken into consideration in future studies. (© 2017 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://

creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction
2.	Methodological aspects related to the study of the lipid composition of exosomes
	2.1. Methods used to isolate exosomes
	2.2. Lipid analyses
	2.3. Asymmetric distribution of lipids in the two leaflets of exosomal membranes
3.	Lipids in exosomes
	3.1. Enrichment of lipid classes from cells to exosomes
	3.2. Composition of exosomes isolated from biological fluids or secreted from a nematode
	3.3. Selection of lipid species into exosomes
4.	Hand-shaking of lipids between the two membrane leaflets
5.	Comparison of lipids in exosomes, HIV-particles and DRMs
6.	Lipids and lipid metabolizing enzymes involved in formation and release of exosomes
7.	Clinical applications of exosomes
	7.1. Exosomes as vehicles for drug delivery
	7.2. Exosomes as biomarkers 38
8.	Summary
Fun	ding
Ack	nowledgements
Refe	erences

Abbreviations: BMP, bismonoacyl glycerophosphate; CE, cholesteryl ester; CHOL, cholesterol; Cer, ceramide; DAG, diacylglycerol; DRM, detergent resistant membrane; FCS, fetal calf serum; Gb3, globotriaosylceramide; GLC, gas liquid chromatography; HexCer, hexosylceramide; HG, hexadecylglycerol; LacCer, lactosylceramide; LBPA, lysobisphosphatic acid; MVB, multivesicular body; MS, mass spectrometry; PA, phosphatidic acid; PC, phosphatidylcholine; PC O/P, PC ethers (alkyl or alkenyl); PE, phosphatidylglycerol; PLD2, phospholipase D2; PI, phosphatidylinositol; PS, phosphatidylserine; SM, sphingomyelin; SMase, sphingomyelinase; TAG, triacylglycerol; TLC, thin layer chromatography.

* Corresponding author at: Department of Molecular Cell Biology, Institute for Cancer Research, Oslo University Hospital-The Norwegian Radium Hospital, 0379 Oslo, Norway. *E-mail address*: torsko@rr-research.no (T. Skotland).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2017.03.001

0163-7827/© 2017 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).



Review





1. Introduction

Exosomes are small vesicles (40-150 nm in diameter) released from cells after fusion of the multivesicular bodies (MVBs) with the plasma membrane [1,2]. The biogenesis of exosomes can be regarded as a three-step process: (a) biogenesis of MVBs, (b) transport of MVBs to the plasma membrane, and (c) release of the intraluminal vesicles of the MVBs as a consequence of fusion of MVBs with the plasma membrane. Exosomes are considered as one of three main types of extracellular vesicles (Fig. 1). The other types of extracellular vesicles are considered to be larger than exosomes, i.e. vesicles budding off from the plasma membrane (typically in the size range 100-1000 nm) and apoptotic bodies (500-2000 nm) formed by blebbing of membranes of apoptotic cells [3,4]. Exosomes have a complex composition including proteins, nucleic acids, lipids and other metabolites [5,6]. During recent years there has been much focus on exosomes. How are they made and secreted to the extracellular environment? What is their specific composition? Which physiological and pathological roles do they have? Can exosomes be used as biomarkers or as vehicles for drug delivery? These aspects have been reviewed in several articles during the last years [1,2,7–12]. However, the lipid-related aspects of exosomes have not obtained sufficient attention. A 10-year old review article summarized what was then known about the lipid composition of exosomes [13], but at that time there were very few mass spectrometry (MS) data published for exosomes. More recent reviews have focused on the role of exosomes in lipid metabolic diseases and cell-to-cell communication [14,15].

In the present review we will critically discuss the current knowledge about the lipid compositions of exosomes and about the lipid classes and species (lipids with different fatty acyl groups) that are enriched from cells to exosomes. In addition, the effect of lipids and lipid metabolizing enzymes on the formation and release of exosomes will be summarized. Furthermore, based on the current focus on the potential clinical applications of exosomes, we will discuss the use of exosomal lipids as biomarkers and how lipids can affect the possible use of exosomes as vehicles for drug delivery.

Finally, we would like to highlight that there are several similarities between the lipid composition of exosomes, HIV particles and detergent resistant membranes (DRMs), isolated from cells as models for lipid rafts. Thus, we have added a discussion about similarities and differences of the lipid composition of exosomes, HIV particles and DRMs in the present review.

Before discussing the lipid data reported for exosomes, we will give some general comments on the methods used for exosome isolation and the uncertainty of the lipid analyses used in these studies. We have decided to use the same nomenclature for describing the different types of vesicle preparations as those used in the original articles, as it in most cases is difficult to evaluate if another nomenclature would be better to describe these preparations.

2. Methodological aspects related to the study of the lipid composition of exosomes

2.1. Methods used to isolate exosomes

Exosomes are isolated from different cell types grown in culture as well as from biological fluids such as plasma and urine, and the reported lipid composition can vary as discussed below. There are several possible explanations to the variations of the lipid composition of exosomes discussed in this review. Different cell types and growth conditions, as well as the methods used for isolation and lipid analyses may all contribute to the results discussed.

Starting with cell growth conditions, we have shown that different cell densities may change the lipid composition and intracellular trafficking [16]. Also the lipid composition of the cell medium, mainly fatty acids, may be important for the lipid composition of the cells [17], and thus most probably for exosomes. Also other substances present in serum can play a role. In particular, the lipid composition of exosomes is likely to change after removal of serum from the medium or its replacement with ultracentrifuged serum, something that is done in several exosome studies due to the presence of exosomes in fetal calf serum (FCS).

The most commonly used method to isolate exosomes so far is ultracentrifugation, and this method has been used in the studies presented in Table 1. Ultracentrifugation may, however, result in co-isolation of exosomes, lipoparticles and lipid droplets, which then will result in a lipid composition different from that obtained if only exosomes with a membrane just consisting of the normal bilayer structure were present. The removal of FCS during the collection of exosomes from cell lines would avoid this problem, but as described above, growing cells for several hours (days) without serum may have consequences. Moreover, our experience is that the so-called exosome-free serum contains particles with a similar size as exosomes, and these particles may be of lipid nature and could co-purify with exosomes. Co-isolation of lipoproteins with extracellular vesicles is particularly a problem in blood plasma samples [18]. Other methods used to isolate exosomes are filtration, size-exclusion chromatography, immunoaffinity capture, polymerbased precipitation and microfluidics [19-22]. All these methods have pros and cons due to the heterogeneity of extracellular vesicles and their coexistence in cell culture media or biological fluids with potential lipid structures such as lipoproteins. Especially, one should be careful about conclusions drawn following analyses of exosomes purified by using columns or affinity methods that may result in purification of only a subpopulation of exosomes originally present.



Fig. 1. Extracellular vesicles are released by different mechanisms. Exosomes are released after fusion of MVB with the plasma membrane. Microvesicles are released by directed budding of the plasma membrane. Apoptotic bodies released by apoptotic dying cells are also considered a type of extracellular vesicles. The figure is reprinted from the PhD degree of Santosh Phuyal, University of Oslo, with permission from the author.

Table 1 Lipid content in exosomes and enrichment from the originating cells.

	PC-3 cells [34]		PC-3 cells + HG [43]		Oli-neu cells [35]		B-lymphocytes [36]		Mast cells [37]		Dendritic cells [37]		Reticulocytes [38]		Prosta. ^a 100 nm [39]	Prosta. ^a 50 nm [39]	Urine [40]	Nematodes
Lipids	%	Factor	%	Factor	% ^b	Factor	%	Factor	% ^c	Factor	% ^{c,d}	Factor	%	Factor	%	%	%	% ^e
CHOL	43.5	2.3	59	1.7	43	2.3	42.1	3.0	15	1.0	?	?	47	1.03	54.8	54.1	63	7
SM	16.3	2.4	9.1	2.0	8.2	1.5	23.0	2.3 ^f	12	2.8	20	2.2	8.4 ^f	1.31	28.6	14.3	11.7	3
PC	15.3	0.31	10.8	0.33	26.7	0.67	(20.3) ^g	(0.76) ^g	28	0.66	26	0.6	23.5	1.03	2.3	1.3	2.7	4
PS	11.7	2.1	6.9	1.2	14.9	3.0	(20.3) ^g	(0.76) ^g	(16) ^g	(1.2) ^g	(19) ^g	(1.6) ^g	5.9	0.92	7.1	5.4	13.2	15
PE	5.8	0.55	1.1	0.21	10.9	1.0	(14.6) ^g	(0.7) ^g	24	1.08	26	1.13	12.7	0.84	0.6	0.3	<loq< td=""><td>13</td></loq<>	13
PE O/P	3.3	1.2	4.7	0.81			(14.6) ^g	(0.7) ^g									4.6	47
DAG	1.5	1.5	1.1	0.92													0.1	
PC O/P	0.81	0.40	0.7	0.28														8
HexCer	0.76	3.8	2.3	2.1	?	2.0									5.6	23.3	1.9	
Cer	0.32	1.3	0.7	1.2	?	3.3											0.1	
PG	0.17	0.17	0.1	0.07														
PA	0.16	1.8	0.1	0.33			(20.3) ^g	(0.76) ^g										
PI	0.13	0.13	0.3	0.16			(20.3) ^g	(0.76) ^g	(16) ^g	(1.2) ^g	(19) ^g	(1.6) ^g	2.4	1.1	1.1	1.3		
LacCer	0.12	3.0	0.7	1.8													0.8	
LysoPI	0.09	2.3	-	-														
LysoPE	0.09	1.3	-	-														
CE	0.08	0.38	-	-													0.3	
Gb3	0.02	2.0 ^h	-	-													1.1	
Out/In	1.47		1.49		1.35		?		1.15		1.22		1.52		4.1	5.6	1.03	0.20
Lipid analysis	MS		MS		MS		TLC		TLC/		TLC/		TLC		LC-MS	LC-MS	MS	MS
Exosome	SFM	+ SUC	SFM +	SUC	SFM	+ SUC	11FCS +	SLIC +	uFCS -	+ SUC	UFCS -	+ SLIC	UFCS	+ SUC	SUC + SEC	SUC + SEC	SLIC	SFM +
prep ⁱ	01101	, 500	01.01	000	+ SG		SG +	0001						, 556	+SG	+ SG		SUC
rr,							immuno	ocapture										

%: Percent of total lipid quantified.

Factor: Factor of enrichment from cells to exosomes.

Out/In: Sum of sphingolipids and lipids with the phosphocholine head group divided by all other lipids reported (except CHOL).

LOQ: Limit of quantification.

^a Prosta = Prostasomes.

^b These data are recalculated by assuming same level of CHOL as in [34]; the absolute amounts of CHOL, Cer and HexCer were not reported.

c Recalculated from their data.

^d CHOL not reported; the sum for the other lipid classes is 100% (including LysoPC not included in this table).

^e Recalculated from their data; lyso ethers and lyso acyl lipids are not shown.

^f Sum of SM and the ganglioside GM3.

^g Sum for all classes shown in parentheses and having the same numbers.

^h Enrichments of other GSLs (GM1, GM2, GM3 and GD1) are shown in Fig. 1; due to lack of standards these GSLs could not be quantified as the other lipid classes.

ⁱ Exosome prep.: Methods used to isolate the exosome preparations. SFM: serum free medium; SUC: sequential centrifugation; SG: sucrose gradient; uFCS: ultracentrifuged fetal calf serum; SEC: size exclusion chromatography.

When evaluating the lipid composition of exosome preparations one should keep in mind that CE and TAG, the lipids that form the hydrophobic core of lipid droplets and lipoproteins, are not present in cellular membranes [23]. Therefore, if relatively large amounts of these lipids are obtained in exosome preparations, it is likely that lipids droplets or lipoprotein particles have been co-isolated with exosomes. Lipid droplets could be co-isolated with exosomes if cells have been ruptured. Also, lipid droplets can be included in autophagic vesicles [24], and it has been shown that exosomes can be co-isolated with autophagic material in cells where secretory autophagy is induced [25].

In conclusion, development of better methods to purify and characterize the different types of extracellular vesicles is certainly needed. For the present discussion it is important to stress that it is not easy to evaluate the purity of the exosome samples used in several of the studies discussed in the present review. We have, however, commented upon such issues when the lipid analyses indicate that the preparations contain "impurities", i.e. that the lipids do not fit well with a bilayer membrane structure formed by selection of lipids from the plasma membrane or endosomal membranes.

2.2. Lipid analyses

A key issue regarding comparison of the thin layer chromatography (TLC), gas liquid chromatography (GLC) and mass spectrometry (MS) results discussed in the present review is the uncertainty of the data reported. It is not easy to give general statements about this as it is not only dependent on the method used, but also on the competence of

the people using these sometimes very specialized methods, and the purity of the samples analyzed. It should however be mentioned that it has for many years been well-known that different lipid species may contribute to different MS signal intensities [26,27]. We refer to review articles where several aspects of quantification and reproducibility of different MS analyses have been discussed [28–31]. We believe that in the analyses performed in our own studies the uncertainty is 5–15% for most species analyzed, but the uncertainty may be larger for some minor species. We think readers inexperienced with interpreting lipid data such as those shown in Table 1 should keep in mind that the uncertainty could be larger than 15%.

2.3. Asymmetric distribution of lipids in the two leaflets of exosomal membranes

It is well established that there is an asymmetric distribution of the lipid classes in the plasma membrane, such that SM, other sphingolipids and PC (at least most of it) can be expected to be in the outer leaflet, whereas all other classes are expected to be mainly in the inner leaflet [23]. The asymmetry of membrane bilayers may be changed by enzymes such as flippases, floppasses and scramblases [32,33], and there have been discussions about if and to which extent breakdown of the asymmetry of the exosome bilayer may occur, e.g. by PS flipping to the outer leaflet. We refer to articles demonstrating asymmetry in the lipid distribution in the exosome membrane in Section 4.

As the ratio of the area of the outer leaflet to the inner leaflet will depend upon the size of small vesicles such as exosomes, we have calculated the theoretical ratios between the areas of the outer and inner leaflets for vesicles of different sizes (assuming the thickness of the bilayer to be 5 nm). The surface area of a sphere is $4\pi r^2$, which means that the ratio for the outer to the inner leaflet of exosomes with a diameter of 70 nm will be $35^2/30^2 = 1.36$. This ratio increases for smaller vesicles. Of relevance for the discussion below, vesicles with a diameter of 50–100 nm will have an area ratio of the outer to the inner leaflet of 1.56–1.24.

3. Lipids in exosomes

3.1. Enrichment of lipid classes from cells to exosomes

The lipid content of exosomes and their enrichment factors from cells to exosomes have been reported in several studies (Table 1). The most detailed study so far, including quantification of approximately 280 lipid species from 18 lipid classes, is our own study with the prostate cancer cell line PC-3 [34]. However, as shown in Table 1, several studies have described the percent of different lipid classes in cells and exosomes in several cell types such as Oli-neu [35], human B-cells [36], mast cells RBL-2H3 [37], dendritic cells [37], and vesicles released during in vitro maturation of guinea pig reticulocytes [38]. In addition, Table 1 contains information about exosome preparations from biological fluids where the lipid content of the donor cells is not known. In particular, data of two different sizes (100 nm and 50 nm) of prostasomes (i.e. exosomes expected to be released from prostate cells) isolated from human seminal fluid [39], exosomes isolated from human urine [40], and exosomes secreted by a nematode parasite [41] are included.

Several of the studies listed in Table 1 show 2–3 times enrichment from cells to exosomes for cholesterol, SM, glycosphingolipids and PS. In contrast, exosomes generally contained less PC (mol% of total lipids) than their parent cells, and only small changes were reported for PE in most studies. The changes in the relative amounts of lipid classes from cells to exosomes for all 22 lipid classes (the 18 listed in Table 1 and four classes of gangliosides) quantified in PC-3 cells [34] are shown in Fig. 2; these data show several lipid classes so far reported for exosomes only in this study. The mol% of all lipid classes in these exosomes are given in Table 1, and the mol% of these classes in the parent cells can be calculated using the enrichment factors. It should be mentioned that there exists an additional study of the lipid composition of PC-3 cells and five other prostate cell lines (including one nonmalignant cell line) as well as exosomes released from these cell lines [42]. Those data show an enrichment from cells to exosomes of SM (2.5–3.7 times) and glycosphingolipids (1.8–3.3 times), whereas all phospholipid classes were grouped and do not add much to the present discussion. It is interesting to see that PC-3 cells treated with hexadecylglycerol (HG), a precursor for ether phospholipids, gave similar enrichment factors from cells to exosomes as untreated cells [43], despite of the changes addition of this precursor causes in the lipidome of both exosomes and PC-3 cells (Table 1).

The description of the lipid composition of exosomes released from Oli-neu cells [35] is the second most detailed study comparing the lipid content of exosomes and their parent cells. The changes from cells to exosomes for Oli-neu cells show several similarities with those of PC-3 cells, but the exosomes from the Oli-neu cells show less enrichment of SM and a much higher enrichment of Cer (this is further discussed in Section 6).

Whereas the studies mentioned so far have been based upon lipid analyses using modern MS technology, the following studies discussed in this chapter were performed using older methods like TLC and GLC. The group of Stoorvogel was the first to include MS analyses (in addition to TLC) to study the lipid content of exosomes [36]. Using human B-cells they were also the first to describe a large enrichment of cholesterol and sphingolipids from cells to exosomes, and the similarities between the lipid classes enriched in exosomes and in detergent-resistant membranes (DRMs). It is, however, difficult to compare their data with the data obtained using MS analyses, as the lipid classes in the B-cell study were quantified using a TLC method where PC, PS, PI and PA comigrated in one band. Similarly, SM and the ganglioside GM3 co-migrated and thus had to be quantified together (Table 1).

We face somewhat similar challenges when looking into the lipid composition of mast cells and dendritic cells [37], where PS and PI were quantified together, i.e. one class found to be highly enriched in exosomes from PC-3 cells and one class found to be higher in the PC-3 cells than in exosomes (Fig. 2). Another issue that makes it difficult to interpret these data is the lack of cholesterol measurements in the dendritic cell study, and the surprising information that the cholesterol content (mol% of total lipids) was almost the same in mast cells and their exosomes (Table 1).

Table 1 also shows the lipid composition of reticulocytes and their exosomes. This study from 1989 was in fact the very first to describe the lipid content of exosomes and their parent cells [38]. As shown in Table 1, these data show only a slight enrichment of SM and a small decrease in the mol% of PE, whereas for all other lipid classes (including cholesterol) the data for cells and exosomes are within the analytical uncertainty of the method used. It should be noted that these cells



Fig. 2. Enrichment of lipid classes in PC-3 cells or exosomes released from these cells calculated as mol% of lipids. This figure is reprinted from Llorente et al. [34] with permission from Elsevier.

have very high cholesterol content, and a further enrichment in the released exosomes cannot be expected. One should also be aware of that MVBs fusing with the plasma membrane of reticulocytes have been reported to bear markers of early, not late, endosomes [44]. These cells also lose their transferrin receptors as they are transformed into erythrocytes, and one may therefore speculate that there is a different sorting of lipids into exosomes in reticulocytes than in other cells. In another study with reticulocytes (not listed in Table 1), exosomes were purified after 2, 4 and 7 days of differentiation and showed major changes in the main lipid classes measured, i.e. PE, PI + PS, PC and SM [45].

In a recent study more than 500 lipid species were measured in the colorectal cancer cell line LIM1215 and its exosomes [46]. This study is not included in Table 1 because quantification of the relative abundance of different lipid species was performed by comparing their MS signals with the internal standard PC14:0/14:0. Thus, only relative abundance of species in the cells and exosomes were reported, and it is therefore not easy to compare these data with those shown in Table 1. By comparing the lipid ion abundance per ug protein for the different lipid classes and calculating the enrichment from cells to exosomes (note that this is not enrichment of lipid classes from cells to exosomes, but enrichment of lipid classes per ug protein in the two samples) some surprising patterns were observed. We estimated the enrichment factors for the lipid classes reported by the authors to be: TAG (x24), SM (x12), DAG (x11), CE (x5.7), cholesterol (x4.9), and PC, PE and PS (all x1.7). Furthermore, for PS and PE, the lysolipids were much more enriched from cells to exosomes than the diacyl species. These results are thus very different from those reported by others, and the very high enrichments of TAG and CE might indicate the presence of lipoparticles and/or lipid droplets in the exosome preparations.

Haraszti et al. [47] recently published major differences in the lipid composition for exosomes, microvesicles and parental cells for U87 glioblastoma cells, Huh7 hepatocellular carcinoma cells, and human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). They state that 1961 lipid species were identified in these samples. It is, however, difficult to evaluate their results as they are presented as summary numbers only. They reported a similar content of SM and PS in exosomes and parental cells (percent of lipids), which is contrary to most other reports discussed above, whereas the levels of PC and PI are more similar to those discussed above for these classes.

As mentioned in Section 2.3, we have used the lipid data shown in Table 1 to calculate the ratio of lipid classes expected to be in the outer and inner leaflets by assuming the same asymmetry as in the plasma membrane. These ratios are shown in the third row from the bottom of Table 1, and for the studies discussed so far they fit reasonably well with the theoretical values calculated for vesicles with a diameter of 50–150 nm (i.e. ratios of 1.56–1.24).

In addition to the lipid classes discussed above, it is of interest to investigate if BMP (bismonoacyl glycerophosphate), also called LBPA (lysobisphosphatic acid), a lipid present in membranes of the intraluminal vesicles of MVBs, is present in exosomes [23]. To our knowledge, there are only two studies where BMP analyses have been performed on exosomes. In the first study, BMP was reported to be below the detection limit of the analysis [36]. In the other study, BMP was reported to account for 0.8 and 1.2 mol% of total phospholipids for exosomes and cells, respectively [37]. It was concluded in both studies that BMP is not transferred on to exosomes, but most likely present in the intraluminal vesicles of MVBs that fuse with lysosomes. This view is in accordance with what most scientists believe is the main destination of BMP, as it has been described to contribute to lysosomal stability and integrity and to be an essential cofactor for sphingolipid catabolism in lysosomes [48,49]. We agree that available data support the idea that BMP is not present in exosomes, at least not in large amounts. We think, however, that it would be interesting to analyze BMP in other exosome preparations and their parent cells using modern MS technology before concluding if BMP is present in exosomes, perhaps in a cell type-dependent manner.

3.2. Composition of exosomes isolated from biological fluids or secreted from a nematode

The lipid composition of extracellular vesicles in biological fluids is less well characterized and has so far only been described for extracellular vesicles from seminal fluid (prostasomes) and from urine (Table 1). In terms of prostasomes, two prostasome preparations (100 and 50 nm in diameter, respectively) purified from human seminal fluid have been analyzed by MS [39]. These results deviate considerably from other exosome preparations (Table 1). The content of SM and HexCer is so high that it is difficult to understand how these lipid compositions can fit with a bilayer structure. In order to form vesicles of these sizes with bilayer structures, it is necessary that e.g. all PC and approximately 1/4 of the sphingolipids (i.e. the SM and HexCer content shown in Table 1) are in the inner leaflet in contrast to the rest of the sphingolipids. Thus, these prostasomes are either very different from all other exosomes published, or these vesicle preparations prepared from human seminal fluid contain more than just vesicles with a normal membrane bilayer.

The lipid composition of prostasomes purified from human [50], horse [51], and boar [52] semen were obtained by using TLC methods to quantify the relative amounts of SM, PC, and PE and the sum of PS and PI (co-migrating). These three studies all show very high cholesterol contents and a lipid composition more similar to the exosome data discussed above than to the two prostasome preparations [39] shown in Table 1. Also the calculated ratios of lipid classes expected to be on the outer and inner leaflets are more similar to the values discussed above for exosomes, i.e. 1.86, 1.04 and 1.22 for human, horse and boar, respectively. It should be noted that HexCer, an important constituent in the two prostasome preparations listed in Table 1, was not measured in these earlier studies.

The lipid composition of exosomes purified from human urine has recently been described [40] (Table 1). These results were obtained following quantification of 107 lipid species. The most surprising observations are: (a) the very high content of cholesterol, on the borderline of what has been reported in model membranes [53]; (b) the finding that PS 18:0/18:1 is the main lipid species after cholesterol (see discussion below about lipid species); and (c) that all PE species detected were identified as PE ethers. It is not known why PE ethers are selected into the exosomes isolated from urine, but we think this is interesting also in light of the extremely high amounts of PE ethers in exosomes released from nematodes [41], and also the high content of PE ethers in HIV particles [54] discussed below.

Remarkably, extracellular vesicles are also released by parasites where they appear to contribute to the infection process [55]. Very recently, exosomes secreted from a nematode parasite in mice were described to have a very surprising lipid composition [41]. These exosomes had a remarkable high content of PE plasmalogens, i.e. alkenyl ethers (47 mol%), and very low contents of cholesterol (7 mol%) and SM (3 mol%). The authors propose that nematodes maintain exosome structure and stability by the high concentration of plasmalogens compensating for the very low levels of cholesterol and SM. Nematodes are not believed to synthesize sterols, but to obtain sterols through the diet; and the sphingolipid synthesis is not very well described in this organism [41].

3.3. Selection of lipid species into exosomes

Cells contain thousands of different molecular lipid species, and there has been an increasing number of examples describing specific cellular functions for one single lipid species [56]. Although the exosomal amounts of different lipid classes has been determined in several studies, there are only a few studies where molecular lipid species have been analyzed and even fewer where they have been quantified. In our study of PC-3 cells [34], approximately 280 species from a total of 18 lipid classes were quantified. This is to our knowledge the only study showing quantitative data for more than a few molecular lipid species found in both exosomes and their parent cells.

Most groups that have compared the saturation level of fatty acyl groups in lipids in exosomes with that in parent cells agree that there is an enrichment of phospholipid species with two saturated fatty acyl groups. For PC, this is mainly due to an increase in PC 14:0/16:0 and 16:0/16:0 [34,35]. However, we think it is important to stress that exosomes contain abundant monounsaturated fatty acyl groups. PC 16:0/18:1 and PC 16:0/16:1 were the two dominating PC species in exosomes from PC-3 cells [34], PC 34:1 and PC 32:1 were among the most common species in exosomes from Oli-neu cells [35], and PC 34:1 accounted for approximately 60% of the PC species in both prostasome preparations listed in Table 1 [39].

The lipid data for exosomes from PC-3 cells demonstrate a remarkable enrichment of several species with C18:1 in the sn-2 position in different lipid classes. Most remarkably was the enrichment and total amount of PS 18:0/18:1 in PC-3 cells [34], and in urinary exosomes PS 18:0/18:1 was the main species after cholesterol [40]. PS 36:1 contributed approximately 80% of the total PS species in the two prostasome preparations [39], and it was the only PS species listed in the B-cell study [36]. Also for other lipid classes there was a remarkable enrichment of species containing C18:1 in exosomes released from PC-3 cells, as such enrichment was observed for PE 18:0/18:1, PE 16:0/18:1, PE 18:1/18:1, PI 18:0/18:1, PI 16:0/18:1, PI 18:1/18:1 and DAG 18:0/ 18:1. Note that species with the combination 18:0/18:1 was enriched in all classes of PS, PE, PI and DAG. Also in the two prostasome preparations PE 34:1 and PE 36:1 were the main PE species, and they together constituted approximately half of the PE species [39]. Thus, monounsaturated fatty acyl groups gave a major contribution to the lipid species of PS, PC and PE species both in exosomes from PC-3 cells and in the two prostasome preparations.

Sphingolipids, and especially the main sphingolipid SM, are certainly important for the structure of exosomes. Although there was a 2.4-fold enrichment of SM species from PC-3 cells to their exosomes, there were only minor changes in the relative contribution of the main SM species, i.e. SM d18:1/16:0, SMd18:1/24:0 and SM d18:1/24:1, which constituted approximately 35%, 20% and 20%, respectively, of the total SM species in exosomes [34]. Somewhat similar data were reported for the SM content of the two prostasome preparations shown in Table 1, where the main SM species was the N-amidated 16:0 (35–40%) followed by almost equal amounts (15%) of 20:0, 22:0 and 24:0, and with 24:1 as the most abundant (5–10%) unsaturated fatty acyl group [39]. Thus, the main difference between these data sets was that prostasomes have less very-long-chain and unsaturated SM species (C24:1).

As mentioned above, exosomes released from nematodes have a very different composition of lipid classes compared to other exosome preparations [41]. Also the species composition within the different lipid classes was very different in the nematode exosomes. The most surprising observation was that a PE ether with 36 carbon atoms and two double bonds (36:2) constituted 25% of the total lipids analyzed. Moreover, the content of phospholipids with two unsaturated fatty acyl groups was high as PC 36:2, PS 36:2 and PE 36:2 were all the dominating species of these lipid classes, whereas species with 36 carbon atoms and 1 or 3 double bonds were also among the most common species for PC, PS and PE. Thus, unsaturated phospholipid species and especially the PE ether (36:2) are extremely important building blocks of the nematode exosomes.

4. Hand-shaking of lipids between the two membrane leaflets

In our study of PC-3 cells and their released exosomes [34], we noticed that cholesterol, the very-long-chain SM (mainly SM d18:1/24:0 and SM d18:1/24:1) and PS 18:0/18:1 (which is the main PS species constituting approximately 40% of the total of PS species in these exosomes) were enriched to a similar extent from cells to exosomes. The enrichment factors observed, 2.2, 2.4 and 2.7, respectively, are probably within the analytical uncertainty. This made us speculate that these lipids are sorted together, and that there may be a "handshaking" between the very-long-chain SM in the outer leaflet and this PS species in the inner leaflet (note that species with 24 carbon atoms should be able to penetrate deep into the inner leaflet [57]). Moreover, if one compensates for the different surface area of exosomes with a diameter of 70 nm, the PS 18:0/18:1 in the inner leaflet could theoretically cover approximately 80% of the area covered by the very-long-chain SM in the outer leaflet. By including PE 18:0/18:1 in these calculation, PS 18:0/18:1 plus PE 18:0/18:1 could theoretically cover 95% of the area covered by the very-long-chain SM in the outer leaflet. We have also investigated the lipid composition of PC-3 cells treated with the ether lipid precursor HG [43]. The addition of this ether lipid precursor caused, as discussed above, several changes to the lipidome of both cells and exosomes, but still the ratio of PS 18:0/18:1 to the very long-chain SM was in the same range in these exosomes as those isolated from untreated cells. Finally, recent analyses of urinary exosomes from 15 prostate cancer patients and 13 healthy volunteers showed that PS 18:0/18:1 in the inner leaflet could occupy 78 \pm 18% (mean \pm SD) and 66 \pm 22% of the area occupied by the very-long-chain sphingolipids in the outer leaflet in patients and controls, respectively [40].

Based on these data we performed molecular dynamic simulation studies to estimate the transmembrane coupling (interdigitation) between the long-chain (C16:0) or very-long-chain (C24:0) SM in the outer leaflet and different phospholipids in the inner leaflet in the presence or absence of cholesterol [57]. These simulation studies revealed that the very-long-chain SM gave a much stronger interdigitation than the long-chain SM. The largest interdigitation was obtained between the very-long-chain SM d18:1/24:0 in the outer leaflet and PS 18:0/ 18:1 in the inner leaflet, and the interaction between these two species was the only one that was found to increase in the presence of cholesterol. There has during recent years been much discussion about how cholesterol is distributed in the membrane leaflets [58]. In our simulation study, the highest interaction between the two leaflets was found when the cholesterol content was slightly higher in the outer than the inner leaflet. Taken together these results and the lipidomic data, support the idea of a selective handshaking between the very-long-chain sphingolipids and PS 18:0/18:1 (Fig. 3), and we believe this interaction is an important mechanism in membrane biology, not only for exosomes (see discussion in [57]). Fig. 3 shows an illustration of the lipid bilayer of exosomes based upon these quantitative analyses [34] and the hypothesis about hand-shaking between the very long-chain sphingolipids in the outer leaflet and the PS 18:0/18:1 in the inner leaflet.

The present hypothesis about handshaking between the very-longchain sphingolipids and PS 18:0/18:1 is based upon the assumption that PS (or most of it) is found in the inner leaflet of exosomes, in the same way as in the plasma membrane. In some studies of extracellular vesicles PS is described to be present also in the outer leaflet, as it is detected with Annexin 5. It is well known that PS is found in the outer leaflet of activated blood cells, apoptotic bodies and microparticles or microvesicles released from plasma membranes, and that such exposure of PS functions as an "eat me" signal for macrophages, such that vesicles or cells with PS on their surface are removed from circulation [59]. We refer to a recent review covering the possibilities of PS being important for uptake of certain exosomes into target cells [15].

When thinking about the physiological role of exosomes, it is unlikely in our opinion that they expose PS in general since they would then be removed from circulation by macrophages, and they would be unable to bring signaling molecules to different cells and tissues. A study showing different integrins to be responsible for extracellular vesicles to home into lung or liver [60] is in agreement with this view. Although several studies report binding of e.g. Annexin 5 to exosomes, thus indicating that at least some of the exosomes have PS in the outer leaflet, we have not seen any study convincingly demonstrating the presence of PS on the outer leaflet of exosomes just after secretion from cells. It would



Fig. 3. Illustration of the lipid bilayer of exosomes based upon quantitative lipidomic data for exosomes released by PC-3 cells [34]. The number of lipids (excluding cholesterol) shown in the outer (29) and inner (22) leaflet is close to the ratio of 1.36 for the outer and inner surface of exosomes with an outer diameter of 70 nm. The lipid composition of the membrane in the illustration is based on the data shown in Table 1, i.e.16 SM (one of these should have been HexCer to completely match the published data), 13 PC, 12 PS, 6 PE, 3 PE 0 and 39 molecules of cholesterol (assuming a close to symmetric distribution of cholesterol between the two leaflets). In the right part of the membrane, a possible handshaking between the very-long-chain sphingolipids in the outer leaflet and PS 18:0/18:1 in the inner leaflet in the presence of cholesterol is illustrated. In the rest of the membrane, the lipids are distributed more or less evenly. Nine out the 16 SM molecules shown contain a very-long-chain N-amidated fatty acyl group in accordance with the data published [34].

be very interesting to know the percentage of exosomes that presumably expose PS, and to investigate whether the exposure of PS is a result of storage, or if it can be observed just after secretion of exosomes. Furthermore, it is of great interest to determine the fraction of total exosomal PS that becomes exposed. Such information can probably be obtained by benefiting from the binding of PS to Annexin 5 [61] or Tim4 [62]. We think this is an essential issue to consider for future studies of exosomes. Importantly, the question of PS exposure in the outer leaflet has been addressed in two recent studies. In a study with microvesicles (expected to be a mixture of exosomes and vesicles shedding off from the plasma membrane) isolated from human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells, it was reported that PS was exposed on the surface of vesicles isolated from hypoxic cells, but not from non hypoxic cells [61]. In another study with mesenchymal stem cells it was reported that these cells secreted three different types of extracellular vesicles with a size of 50-100 nm. Interestingly, only one of the three types was able to bind Annexin 5, and the Annexin 5 binding vesicles did not contain typical exosomal markers such as CD9, CD81, ALIX and TSG101 [63]. Thus, the results so far indicate that exosomes in general do not expose PS.

5. Comparison of lipids in exosomes, HIV-particles and DRMs

Several authors have commented upon similarities in enrichment of lipids from cells to exosomes, virus particles and DRMs, as all these particles are enriched in cholesterol and SM. We will here discuss such similarities and differences by comparing the lipid data discussed above for exosomes with those reported in some key publications describing the lipid content of virus particles and DRMs. Although all these particles have less PC (mol% of total lipids) than their parent cells, the PC class has relatively more saturated species. Some data for comparison of the lipid composition of virus particles are shown in Table 2, where also data for exosomes from PC-3 cells have also been included for comparison.

To our knowledge, the lipid analyses of HIV particles released from HeLa cells and MT-4 cells provide the most detailed lipid data published for virus particles [54]. The lipid content of these HIV particles and the enrichment of the lipid classes from cells to particles show remarkable similarities with data from exosomes released from PC-3 cells (Table 2). However, HIV particles contain 15 mol% more PE ethers (plasmalogens) and 10 mol% less of cholesterol than PC-3 exosomes. Also when looking into the enrichment of species composition from cells to HIV particles there are large similarities with PC-3 cells and exosomes. PC 34:1 is the dominating PC species and it is enriched in HIV particles as PC 16:0/18:1 is in PC-3 exosomes. The second most abundant PC species in the HIV particles than in the parent cells as PC

18:1/18:1 does in PC-3 exosomes. The largest enrichment in HIV particles compared to their parent cells was observed for PC 32:0 (enrichment factors of 4.3 and 2.7 in HeLa and MT-4 cells, respectively), whereas a 4.1-fold enrichment was observed for PC 16:0/16:0 (the largest enrichment of all PC species) in PC-3 exosomes. There was no remarkable enrichment of lipid species in the other lipid classes although some selection of species was observed for HIV particles as described above for exosomes.

Due to the hypothesis about hand-shaking discussed above, we looked more closely into the values for PS 36:1 (PS 18:0/18:1 in exosomes) and the very-long-chain SM species (containing 40 or 42 carbon atoms) in the HIV particles. PS 36:1 was the dominant PS species in the two HIV particles and their parent cells. HeLa cells had a distribution of PS species somewhat similar to HEp-2 cells. By assuming these HIV particles to have a diameter of 120 nm [64], PS 36:1 in the inner leaflet could theoretically cover 60% of the area covered by the very-long-chain SM species in the outer leaflet. MT-4 cells have a very different composition of PS species (although PS 36:1 is the dominant PS

Table 2		
Lipid data for PC-3 exosomes, HIV	particles and detergent resistant membranes (DRMs).

Lipids	PC-3 exosomes [34]		HIV particles; HeLa cells [54]		HIV partio MT4 [54]	cles; cells	DRM KB ce [67]	s; ells	DRMs; KBC cells [67]	
	% ^a	Factor	%	Factor	%	Factor	%	Factor	%	Factor
CHOL	43.5	2.3	33.1	1.9	32.7	1.7	24.0	1.9	33.5	2.3
SM	16.3	2.4	10.3	2.8	15.5	1.7	15.9	1.4	15.2	1.5
PC	15.3	0.31	11.4	0.40	6.2	0.28	14.6	0.65	13.0	0.66
PS	11.7	2.1	9.8	1.7	14.6	2.3	3.0	3.5	2.4	3.0
PE	5.8	0.55	8.9	0.58	5.6	0.39	12.0	0.85	10.3	0.84
PE O/P	3.3	1.2	17.9	1.7	20.9	2.2	21.9	1.3	17.9	1.3
DAG	1.5	1.5								
PC O/P	0.81	0.40								
HexCer	0.76	3.8	2.2	1.5	0.4	2.0				
Cer	0.32	1.3	0.1	0.33	0.1	0.50				
PG	0.17	0.17	0.2	0.17	0.7	1.4				
PA	0.16	1.8					0.7	1.3	0.9	2.3
PI	0.13	0.13	1.0	0.18	1.0	0.12	7.9	0.74	6.9	0.76
Out/In	1.47		0.71		0.55		0.67		0.73	
Methods	MS		MS		MS		MS		MS	

%: Percent of total lipid quantified.

Factor: Factor of enrichment from cells to exosomes, from cells to HIV particles or from cells to DRMs.

Out/In: Sum of sphingolipids and lipids with the phosphocholine head group divided by all other lipids reported (except CHOL).

^a Same data as reported in Table 1, but the following lipid classes were not included in this table as they were not measured neither in the HIV particles nor in the DRMs: DAG, PC O/P, LacCer, LysoPI, LysoPE, Cer and Gb3.

species also in these cells and their HIV particles), both preparations contain much less PS 34:1 and much more of the polyunsaturated PS 40:5 and PS 40:6 than HeLa and PC-3 cells. For MT-4 cells the ratio of PS 36:1 to the very long chain SM species was so high that PS 36:1 could cover an area of the inner leaflet being 50% larger than that covered by the very-long-chain SM species in the outer leaflet. We wonder if the high amount of PS 36:1 somehow might compensate for the very high amount of the polyunsaturated PS species in MT-4 cells and their HIV particles. The high level of PS 36:1 suggests that there is a handshaking mechanism also in these particles.

The high content of PE ethers and relatively low amount of cholesterol in the HIV particles [54] is interesting in light of the recent data for exosomes from nematodes discussed above, as Simbari et al. speculated that the high content of PE ethers in nematode exosomes could be necessary to compensate for the very low amounts of cholesterol and sphingolipids [41]. It should be noted that the values calculated for the expected ratios of the outer to inner leaflet lipids for the HIV particles and the exosomes from nematodes (Tables 1 and 2) are all very low, and these values decrease with an increasing mol% of the PE ethers. In order to make these lipid compositions fit into a membrane bilayer it is necessary that a rather large percent of these ether lipids are present in the outer leaflet.

DRMs are preparations isolated from cells treated with different detergents (often 1% Triton X-100 at 4 °C). Such preparations have been commonly used to study lipid rafts [65,66]. We have selected to compare the lipid data discussed above for exosomes and HIV particles with those reported for DRM preparations from KB and KBC cells [67], as these are the most detailed lipid analyses we are aware of for such preparations. As shown in Table 2, there are several similarities between these studies, although both DRM preparations and their parent cells contain higher amounts of PI, PE, PE O/P (especially alkenyl ethers, often called plasmalogens), and considerably lower amounts of PS. A closer look at the composition of lipid species in the different preparations shows an upconcentration of the very-long-chain SM species and no enrichment of PC 16:0/16:0 in both DRM preparations, in contrast to exosomes and HIV particles. Intriguingly, the ratio of lipids expected to be in the outer and inner leaflet is much lower for DRMs than could be expected for a bilayer structure, although these ratios are in the same range for the DRMs and HIV particles listed in Table 2.

Lipid studies of other DRM preparations clearly show that DRMs prepared from different cells or using different procedures may have a very different lipid composition. Thus, analyses of DRMs from MDCK cells show a large enrichment of PC 16:0/16:0 [68], and analyses of DRMs from bovine photoreceptor rod outer segment membranes [69] show large enrichments of C16:0 in most lipid classes in contrast to the DRM preparations described above (those listed in Table 2). Moreover, van Gestel and coworkers [70] recently published interesting lipid data for DRMs isolated from human sperm and two epithelial cells lines. They concluded that unsaturation and chain length of fatty acyl groups of the phospholipids are almost similar in the DRMs and cells from which they were isolated. Moreover, these DRMs contained substantial amounts of polyunsaturated phospholipids. They found cholesterol and SM to be enriched in all DRMs, but to a cell-specific molar ratio. Remarkably, extraction of cholesterol from cells with 5 mM methyl-βcyclodextrin did reduce the cholesterol level in DRMs, but did not affect their composition and amount of phospholipids. When higher concentrations (over 10 mM) methyl-\beta-cyclodextrin were used, an overall lipid depletion from DRMs was observed, rather than a specific extraction of cholesterol. Also interestingly, all three DRM preparations appeared to have multilamellar vesicular structures as monitored by negative staining electron microscopy analyses.

Several studies show that the lipid and protein content of DRMs depend to a large extent on the method used for their preparation. Thus, different results are obtained when using various detergents, and both the detergent concentration, the temperature used during the isolation, the time used for isolation, as well as the buffer solution and the ions present give DRM preparations with different protein and lipid composition [65,66,71–73]. This has made several investigators to conclude that DRMs are not purified membrane rafts, but lipid structures formed in an equilibrium between the detergents and the total cell lipids (the solubility of different lipids is probably important) at the conditions used, or even aggregates formed by "co-precipitation" of lipids into artificial structures [65,66,74]. Some DRM preparations have also been reported to contain considerable amounts of CE or TAG [68], which may indicate that lipid droplets are isolated together or "co-precipitate" with DRMs.

6. Lipids and lipid metabolizing enzymes involved in formation and release of exosomes

Several lipids and lipid metabolizing enzymes have been shown to play a role in the formation and release of exosomes. Trajokovic et al. reported that inhibition or siRNA-mediated depletion of neutral sphingomyelinase (nSMase) resulted in reduced secretion of exosomes from Oli-neu cells [35]. They proposed that this effect may be due to the formation of ceramide microdomains in areas with high concentrations of sphingolipids, followed by their coalescence into larger ceramide-rich domains promoting membrane budding. Thus, the authors expect the cone-shaped ceramide formed by removal of the large head group (phosphocholine) from SM to be the driver of the nSMase effect. Later, a similar effect of nSMase was reported in the human embryonic kidney cell line HEK293 [75] and in T-cells [76]. These results seem to have created the general opinion that formation of ceramide is essential for exosome secretion. However, removal or inhibition of nSMase do not affect exosome release in all cell lines tested [77-79]. A possible explanation may be that nSMase has different subcellular localizations, resulting in ceramide formation at different locations [80,81]. Furthermore, in PC-3 cells there was no effect on exosome secretion by inhibiting ceramide formation by fumonisin B₁, an inhibitor of de novo synthesis of ceramide [79]. Also inhibition of glucosylceramide synthase, i.e. the first enzyme in the synthesis of glycosphingolipids, did not significantly change the amount of secreted exosomes in PC-3 cells, but modified the protein composition of the secreted exosomes by a so far unknown mechanism [79]. Thus, the effect of ceramide on exosome secretion is not universal and more information is needed to understand why inhibition of nSMase gives different effects in various cell lines. Lipidomic analyses of Oli-neu cells [35] and PC-3 cells [34] show that the lipid composition of these cells is rather similar and cannot explain the different effects of nMase. It would be very interesting to investigate if there is also a high enrichment of ceramide and a low enrichment of SM from cells to exosomes in other cell lines where nSMase affects the release of exosomes. In summary, nSMase and ceramide should not be referred as being important for exosome secretion in general.

The enzyme phospholipase D2 (PLD2) removes part of the head group of phospholipids (mainly PC) producing PA. Thus, this enzyme resembles nSMase since they both reduce the head group size of membrane lipids. Ghossoub et al. showed that PLD2 activity is required for formation of intraluminal vesicles within a fraction of MVBs in MCF-7 cells [82]. In particular, inhibition of PLD2 activity was shown to reduce only the secretion of syntenin-containing exosomes, which make up approximately 50% of the total exosome population in these cells. These results stress the idea that exosomes are not a homogenous group of vesicles, and that exosomes with different composition may require different control mechanisms for their formation and release. Ghossoub et al. performed MS-based lipidomic analyses of MCF-7 cells and their exosomes in both control cells and cells depleted of PLD2 with siRNA. In PLD2-depleted cells the PA level was reduced by approximately 50%, whereas the level of all other lipid classes was not affected [82]. Exosomes released by PLD2-depleted cells had the same level of SM,

PC and PA as the control exosomes, whereas they surprisingly had higher levels of PS, PE and PI. It should be mentioned that PLD2 has earlier been reported to be associated with exosomes, and its activity correlates with the amounts of exosomes released from the mast cell line RBL-2H3 [83]. The mechanism behind this increase is not known, but based on the study in MCF-7 cells [82], it can be hypothesized that PLD2 might be involved in the formation of the intraluminal vesicles in MVBs also in RBL-2H3 cells.

Diacylglycerol kinase α (DGK α) adds phosphate to DAG, thus synthesizing PA. This enzyme has been reported to be present at MVBs and at the plasma membrane of T-lymphocytes, and to have an inhibitory effect on the secretion of exosomes from these cells [84]. It seems as this enzyme reduces the formation of mature MVBs, apparently without affecting the intracellular traffic of MVBs [84]. Thus, studies with PLD2 in mast cells and MCF-7 cells as well as the studies with DGK α in lymphocytes indicate that the levels or formation of DAG and PA are important for the formation and secretion of exosomes. These lipid classes, together with ceramide, have the smallest head groups of the membrane lipids, and point to the size of the head groups as being important for intracellular sorting and trafficking.

So what about a role for other lipid species in exosome release? Addition of the ether lipid precursor HG showed a doubling of ether lipids in PC-3 cells, and revealed that these cells secreted more exosomes than the control cells. The exosomes secreted from cells treated with the ether lipid precursor showed both changes in their lipid content (as discussed above) and their protein composition [43]. Ether lipids have previously been suggested to be involved in membrane fusion [85], making it possible that the effect of adding an ether lipid precursor could be to increase the fusion of the MVBs with the plasma membrane. Since the cells treated with HG contained less MVBs and less intraluminal vesicles per MVB, it was speculated that this was due to cells containing less mature MVBs with fewer intraluminal vesicles due to an increased fusion of MVBs with the plasma membrane [43].

We have recently published that inhibition of formation of $PI(3,5)P_2$ by knockdown of PIKfyve with siRNA or inhibition of this enzyme with apilimod actually increases exosome secretion and seems to inhibit fusion of MVB with lysosomes [25]). Furthermore there are more MVBs with an increased number of intraluminal vesicles in cells with reduced PIKfyve activity. The reported ability of $PI(3,5)P_2$ to bind to and act as an agonist for the lysosomal Ca²⁺ channel TRPML1, may be related to the inhibition of fusion with lysosomes after reduction of $PI(3,5)P_2$ [86].

Of the lipids discussed in this section, we would like to mention that we found only 0.32 mol% of ceramide and 0.16 mol% of PA in exosomes secreted from PC-3 cells (Table 1). We are not aware of any other published data for the mol% of these lipid classes in exosomes. It can be calculated that a lipid bilayer with a diameter of 70 nm contains approximately 60,000 lipid molecules, based on the assumption that each lipid molecule in average occupies 0.4–0.5 nm² of the surface area [87]. Thus, there could be approximately 190 ceramide molecules and half of that of PA molecules in such a vesicle. We estimated that PC-3 exosomes contain one protein molecule (sum of membranebound proteins and those found inside exosomes) per 65 lipid molecules [34], but the surface area of these proteins is not known. As the plasma membrane of most cells has been estimated to contain approximately 50% of proteins [88], there are probably not more than 100 ceramide and 50 PA molecules per exosome secreted from PC-3 cells.

Although some studies have been published on the importance of lipids and/or lipid-metabolizing enzymes in the formation and release of exosomes, we have to accept that we are still in the very early process of understanding these mechanisms. For future studies and discussions about these issues, it is important to keep in mind that there are cell type dependent regulatory mechanisms for the release of exosomes. Also, there may not only be differences between various cell lines, but even different regulatory mechanisms for different exosome populations within a single cell line, as discussed above for the syntenin-containing exosomes released from MCF-7 cells [83].

7. Clinical applications of exosomes

7.1. Exosomes as vehicles for drug delivery

During the last years there has been an increasing interest in the possibility to use exosomes as vehicles for drug delivery. We refer to recent reviews regarding strategies and the present status of the field [9,11,89– 92]. By reading the literature about exosomes as vehicles for drug delivery, one can see that there is much focus on technical issues. Which methods should be used for large-scale isolation of exosomes? How to load exosomes with drugs? Which donor cells to use? Is it possible to use autologous exosomes only or can non-immunogenic exosomes be made? Can targeting molecules be added on the surface? Standardized protocols for purification and analyses are asked for.

The lipid composition of exosomes and their stable membrane structure is certainly an advantage for the stability of such vehicles following intravenous injection. It has even been demonstrated that anthrax toxin can survive in the body for a long time circulating within exosomes [93]. This stability, however, also gives major challenges with the loading of drugs, at least of drugs that are not both very small and hydrophobic. One possibility may be to make exosomes which contain the active constituents (drugs) when being secreted from cells. But still a major hurdle remains in order to make use of exosomes as vehicles for drug delivery. How can it be possible to document the product, including the reproducibility of different batches, as needed to obtain market approval for drugs? Although regulatory issues of exosome-based drug delivery have been mentioned in some reviews [9,89,91], there is not much focus on this challenge in the literature. This should certainly be a main issue to consider for everyone aiming at developing exosomes as drug delivery vehicles. Based on these regulatory approval hurdles, we expect that it will be much easier to benefit from the diagnostic use of exosomes than to use exosomes for drug delivery.

7.2. Exosomes as biomarkers

The diverse content of exosomes makes them an excellent source of noninvasive biomarkers [8,94–97]. During the last years both the protein and nucleic acid content of exosomes has been explored and several candidate biomarkers for a variety of diseases have been identified [8]. The potential use of exosomal lipids as biomarkers has however not been explored in detail.

Due to the high stability of the exosomal membrane one would expect that it will be more challenging to use an immunological-based method like ELISA to measure proteins with their antibody binding site inside exosomes or within the membrane, than to measure such sites present on the outside of the exosomes [98,99]. Thus, it will probably be easier to use methods like Western blots where detergents are used to solubilize the lipid membrane for such analyses, and probably even better to use MS analyses.

This review focuses on exosomal lipids, and some researchers have tried to use lipids in urine as biomarkers [100-102]. In these studies lyophilized urine samples were often used and it was not described how these samples were treated before lyophilization, such that it is unclear if they contain a mixture of cells and vesicles. To our knowledge, the first study of lipid biomarkers in exosomes from urine was performed with samples from 8 patients with renal cell carcinoma and 8 healthy volunteers [100]. The investigators describe their study as a preliminary application of using a hyphenated LC-QTOF-MS platform to analyze lipids in such samples. The signals reported to be different in the two groups were tentatively identified as 35 molecular lipid species. These species were in general very different from what we recently reported for exosomes isolated from urine [40] (see below), and the species giving the largest differences between the two groups in the renal cell carcinoma study was lysoPE 20:4, which was not detect in our urine samples.

As mentioned, we recently reported the lipid composition of exosomes purified from urine of 15 patients with prostate cancer and 13 healthy volunteers [40]. Due to a limited amount of sample from some of these patients, the analyses were performed using exosome preparations containing only 4 µg of protein, and 36 molecular species were quantified (107 species quantified for the data shown in Table 1). Differences were observed for several lipid species in the lipid compositions of the two groups and the highest significance between these groups were observed for the species LacCer d18:1/16:0 (highest in the patient group) and PS 18:1/18:1 (highest in the control group). By combinations of lipid species the two groups were separated with high sensitivity (93%) and specificity (100%). The relative amount of the different lipid classes was, however, too small to discriminate between the two groups, making MS analyses the only method to detect these differences. Thus, these data stress the importance of making MS analyses a routine method in clinical laboratories in order to benefit from lipid analyses of exosomes as biomarkers in the clinic.

Yang et al. [103] very recently published lipidomic data for urinary exosomes collected from four prostate cancer patients and four healthy volunteers. The urine samples were frozen before exosome preparations were prepared and these preparations were then pooled into one cancer sample and one healthy control sample. Their data were presented as the ratio of patients to controls only, i.e. absolute quantification data were not shown. Furthermore, their samples showed a size distribution much larger than expected for exosomes, and these large vesicles were much more abundant in the cancer than the control sample. The large differences in the TAG and CE content of these samples indicate that they may contain not only vesicles larger than exosomes, but also varying amounts of lipid droplets that might be released from intact cells that were frozen prior to vesicle preparation.

8. Summary

We have in this review discussed the current knowledge about the lipid composition of exosomes. Further quantitative data for lipid species in exosomes secreted from different cell lines and tissues are needed to understand the function of exosomal lipids and the variability of the lipid compositions of exosomes. Several studies have shown that different mechanisms can be involved in the formation and secretion of exosomes in different cell lines and also for various types of exosomes secreted from a cell line. There are many similarities between the lipid compositions of exosomes secreted from PC-3 cells and HIV particles. The lipid composition of DRMs, used as models of lipid rafts, also shows some similarities with exosomes, but DRMs deviate more from exosomes than HIV particles. The lipid composition of DRMs strongly indicates that these preparations must contain other structures than the bilayer membrane structures found in exosomes and HIV particles. Finally, analyses of exosomal lipids emerges as a useful approach when looking for biomarkers, although the results available so far indicate that it would be important to make MS analyses a common method in clinical laboratories to fully benefit from this possibility.

Funding

This work was supported by the Norwegian Cancer Society (Project no. 418889 and 4463453), the Research Council of Norway (Project no. 2015023) through its Center of Excellence funding scheme (Project no. 179571), the South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority, The Norwegian Financial Mechanism 2009–2014 under Project Contract number NFI/R/2014/045 and The University of Oslo.

Acknowledgements

We thank our coauthors of the original publications for their contribution to the work. We will especially acknowledge the discussions with Dr. Kim Ekroos, the very important contribution of Dr. Ekroos and coworkers for performing the lipidomic analyses of our samples and Dr. Ilpo Vattulainen and coworkers for performing the molecular dynamic simulation studies based on the lipid composition of exosomes from PC-3 cells.

References

- Colombo M, Raposo G, Thery C. Biogenesis, secretion, and intercellular interactions of exosomes and other extracellular vesicles. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2014;30: 255–89.
- [2] Bobrie A, Colombo M, Raposo G, Thery C. Exosome secretion: molecular mechanisms and roles in immune responses. Traffic 2011;12:1659–68.
- [3] György B, Szabo TG, Pasztoi M, Pal Z, Misjak P, Aradi B, et al. Membrane vesicles, current state-of-the-art: emerging role of extracellular vesicles. Cell Mol Life Sci 2011;68:2667–88.
- [4] Raposo G, Stoorvogel W. Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. J Cell Biol 2013;200:373–83.
- [5] Kalra H, Simpson RJ, Ji H, Aikawa E, Altevogt P, Askenase P, et al. Vesiclepedia: a compendium for extracellular vesicles with continuous community annotation. PLoS Biol 2012;10:e1001450.
- [6] Kim DK, Lee J, Simpson RJ, Lotvall J, Gho YS. EVpedia: a community web resource for prokaryotic and eukaryotic extracellular vesicles research. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2015;40:4–7.
- [7] Yanez-Mo M, Siljander PR, Andreu Z, Zavec AB, Borras FE, Buzas EI, et al. Biological properties of extracellular vesicles and their physiological functions. J Extracell Vesicles 2015;4:27066.
- [8] Fais S, O'Driscoll L, Borras FE, Buzas E, Camussi G, Cappello F, et al. Evidence-based clinical use of nanoscale extracellular vesicles in nanomedicine. ACS Nano 2016;10: 3886–99.
- [9] El Andaloussi S, Mager I, Breakefield XO, Wood MJ. Extracellular vesicles: biology and emerging therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2013;12:347–57.
- [10] Tkach M, Thery C. Communication by extracellular vesicles: where we are and where we need to go. Cell 2016;164:1226–32.
- [11] Vader P, Mol EA, Pasterkamp G, Schiffelers RM. Extracellular vesicles for drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2016;106:148–56.
- [12] Maas SL, Breakefield XO, Weaver AM. Extracellular vesicles: unique intercellular delivery vehicles. Trends Cell Biol 2017;27:172–88.
- [13] Subra C, Laulagnier K, Perret B, Record M. Exosome lipidomics unravels lipid sorting at the level of multivesicular bodies. Biochimie 2007;89:205–12.
- [14] Record M, Poirot M, Silvente-Poirot S. Emerging concepts on the role of exosomes in lipid metabolic diseases. Biochimie 2014;96:67–74.
- [15] Record M, Carayon K, Poirot M, Silvente-Poirot S. Exosomes as new vesicular lipid transporters involved in cell-cell communication and various pathophysiologies. Biochim Biophys Acta 2014;1841:108–20.
- [16] Kavaliauskiene S, Nymark CM, Bergan J, Simm R, Sylvanne T, Simolin H, et al. Cell density-induced changes in lipid composition and intracellular trafficking. Cell Mol Life Sci 2014;71:1097–116.
- [17] Stoll LL, Spector AA. Changes in serum influence the fatty acid composition of established cell lines. In Vitro 1984;20:732–8.
- [18] Sodar BW, Kittel A, Paloczi K, Vukman KV, Osteikoetxea X, Szabo-Taylor K, et al. Low-density lipoprotein mimics blood plasma-derived exosomes and microvesicles during isolation and detection. Sci Rep 2016;6:24316.
- [19] Thery C, Amigorena S, Raposo G, Clayton A. Isolation and characterization of exosomes from cell culture supernatants and biological fluids. Curr. Protoc. Cell Biol, 22. ; 2006 [Chapter 3:Unit 3].
- [20] Li P, Kaslan M, Lee SH, Yao J, Gao Z. Progress in Exosome Isolation Techniques Theranostics 2017;7:789–804.
- [21] van der Pol E, Boing AN, Gool EL, Nieuwland R. Recent developments in the nomenclature, presence, isolation, detection and clinical impact of extracellular vesicles. J Thromb Haemost 2016;14:56.
- [22] Taylor DD, Shah S. Methods of isolating extracellular vesicles impact down-stream analyses of their cargoes. Methods 2015;87:3–10.
- [23] van Meer G, Voelker DR, Feigenson GW. Membrane lipids: where they are and how they behave. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2008;9:112–24.
- [24] Khaldoun SA, Emond-Boisjoly MA, Chateau D, Carriere V, Lacasa M, Rousset M, et al. Autophagosomes contribute to intracellular lipid distribution in enterocytes. Mol Biol Cell 2014;25:118–32.
- [25] Hessvik NP, Overbye A, Brech A, Torgersen ML, Jakobsen IS, Sandvig K, et al. PIKfyve inhibition increases exosome release and induces secretory autophagy. Cell Mol Life Sci 2016;73:4717–37.
- [26] Koivusalo M, Haimi P, Heikinheimo L, Kostiainen R, Somerharju P. Quantitative determination of phospholipid compositions by ESI-MS: effects of acyl chain length, unsaturation, and lipid concentration on instrument response. J Lipid Res 2001; 42:663–72.
- [27] Han X, Gross RW. Shotgun lipidomics: electrospray ionization mass spectrometric analysis and quantitation of cellular lipidomes directly from crude extracts of biological samples. Mass Spectrom Rev 2005;24:367–412.
- [28] Wenk MR. Lipidomics: new tools and applications. Cell 2010;143:888–95.
- [29] Jung HR, Sylvanne T, Koistinen KM, Tarasov K, Kauhanen D, Ekroos K. High throughput quantitative molecular lipidomics. Biochim Biophys Acta 2011;1811: 925–34.
- [30] Yang K, Han X. Accurate quantification of lipid species by electrospray ionization mass spectrometry - meet a key challenge in lipidomics. Metabolites 2011;1: 21–40.

- [31] Wang M, Wang C, Han RH, Han X. Novel advances in shotgun lipidomics for biology and medicine. Prog Lipid Res 2016;61:83–108.
- [32] Hankins HM, Baldridge RD, Xu P, Graham TR. Role of flippases, scramblases and transfer proteins in phosphatidylserine subcellular distribution. Traffic 2015;16: 35–47.
- [33] Clark MR. Flippin' lipids. Nat Immunol 2011;12:373-5.
- [34] Llorente A, Skotland T, Sylvanne T, Kauhanen D, Rog T, Orlowski A, et al. Molecular lipidomics of exosomes released by PC-3 prostate cancer cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 2013;1831:1302–9.
- [35] Trajkovic K, Hsu C, Chiantia S, Rajendran L, Wenzel D, Wieland F, et al. Ceramide triggers budding of exosome vesicles into multivesicular endosomes. Science 2008;319:1244–7.
- [36] Wubbolts R, Leckie RS, Veenhuizen PT, Schwarzmann G, Mobius W, Hoernschemeyer J, et al. Proteomic and biochemical analyses of human B cell-derived exosomes. Potential implications for their function and multivesicular body formation. J Biol Chem 2003;278:10963–72.
- [37] Laulagnier K, Motta C, Hamdi S, Roy S, Fauvelle F, Pageaux JF, et al. Mast cell- and dendritic cell-derived exosomes display a specific lipid composition and an unusual membrane organization. Biochem J 2004;380:161–71.
- [38] Vidal M, Sainte-Marie J, Philippot JR, Bienvenue A. Asymmetric distribution of phospholipids in the membrane of vesicles released during in vitro maturation of guinea pig reticulocytes: evidence precluding a role for "aminophospholipid translocase". J Cell Physiol 1989;140:455–62.
- [39] Brouwers JF, Aalberts M, Jansen JW, Van NG, Wauben MH, Stout TA, et al. Distinct lipid compositions of two types of human prostasomes. Proteomics 2013;13: 1660–6.
- [40] Skotland T, Ekroos K, Kauhanen D, Simolin H, Seierstad T, Berge V, et al. Molecular lipid species in urinary exosomes as potential prostate cancer biomarkers. Eur J Cancer 2017;70:122–32.
- [41] Simbari F, McCaskill J, Coakley G, Millar M, Maizels RM, Fabrias G, et al. Plasmalogen enrichment in exosomes secreted by a nematode parasite versus those derived from its mouse host: implications for exosome stability and biology. J Extracell Vesicles 2016;5:30741.
- [42] Hosseini-Beheshti E, Pham S, Adomat H, Li N, Tomlinson Guns ES. Exosomes as biomarker enriched microvesicles: characterization of exosomal proteins derived from a panel of prostate cell lines with distinct AR phenotypes. Mol Cell Proteomics 2012; 11:863–85.
- [43] Phuyal S, Skotland T, Hessvik NP, Simolin H, Overbye A, Brech A, et al. The ether lipid precursor hexadecylglycerol stimulates the release and changes the composition of exosomes derived from PC-3 cells. J Biol Chem 2015;290:4225–37.
- [44] Vidal MJ, Stahl PD. The small GTP-binding proteins Rab4 and ARF are associated with released exosomes during reticulocyte maturation. Eur J Cell Biol 1993;60:261–7.
- [45] Carayon K, Chaoui K, Ronzier E, Lazar I, Bertrand-Michel J, Roques V, et al. Proteolipidic composition of exosomes changes during reticulocyte maturation. J Biol Chem 2011;286:34426–39.
- [46] Lydic TA, Townsend S, Adda CG, Collins C, Mathivanan S, Reid GE. Rapid and comprehensive 'shotgun' lipidome profiling of colorectal cancer cell derived exosomes. Methods 2015;87:83–95.
- [47] Haraszti RA, Didiot MC, Sapp E, Leszyk J, Shaffer SA, Rockwell HE, et al. High-resolution proteomic and lipidomic analysis of exosomes and microvesicles from different cell sources. J Extracell Vesicles 2016;5:32570.
- [48] Petersen NH, Kirkegaard T, Olsen OD, Jaattela M. Connecting Hsp70, sphingolipid metabolism and lysosomal stability. Cell Cycle 2010;9:2305–9.
- [49] Schulze H, Sandhoff K. Sphingolipids and lysosomal pathologies. Biochim Biophys Acta 2014;1841:799–810.
- [50] Arienti G, Carlini E, Polci A, Cosmi EV, Palmerini CA. Fatty acid pattern of human prostasome lipid. Arch Biochem Biophys 1998;358:391–5.
- [51] Arienti G, Polci A, De CA, Saccardi C, Carlini E, Palmerini CA. Lipid fatty acid and protein pattern of equine prostasome-like vesicles. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol 2001;128:661–6.
- [52] Piehl LL, Cisale H, Torres N, Capani F, Sterin-Speziale N, Hager A. Biochemical characterization and membrane fluidity of membranous vesicles isolated from boar seminal plasma. Anim Reprod Sci 2006;92:401–10.
- [53] Huang J, Buboltz JT, Feigenson GW. Maximum solubility of cholesterol in phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylethanolamine bilayers. Biochim Biophys Acta 1999; 1417:89–100.
- [54] Lorizate M, Sachsenheimer T, Glass B, Habermann A, Gerl MJ, Krausslich HG, et al. Comparative lipidomics analysis of HIV-1 particles and their producer cell membrane in different cell lines. Cell Microbiol 2013;15:292–304.
- [55] Szempruch AJ, Dennison L, Kieft R, Harrington JM, Hajduk SL. Sending a message: extracellular vesicles of pathogenic protozoan parasites. Nat Rev Microbiol 2016; 14:669–75.
- [56] Kimura T, Jennings W, Epand RM. Roles of specific lipid species in the cell and their molecular mechanism. Prog Lipid Res 2016;62:75–92.
- [57] Róg T, Orlowski A, Llorente A, Skotland T, Sylvänne T, Kauhanen D, et al. Interdigitation of long-chain sphingomyelin induces coupling of membrane leaflets in a cholesterol dependent manner. Biochim Biophys Acta 2015;1858:281–8.
- [58] Marquardt D, Kucerka N, Wassall SR, Harroun TA, Katsaras J. Cholesterol's location in lipid bilayers. Chem Phys Lipids 2016;199:17–25.
- [59] Segawa K, Nagata S. An apoptotic 'eat me' signal: phosphatidylserine exposure. Trends Cell Biol 2015;25:639–50.
- [60] Hoshino A, Costa-Silva B, Shen TL, Rodrigues G, Hashimoto A, Tesic MM, et al. Tumour exosome integrins determine organotropic metastasis. Nature 2015;525: 329–35.
- [61] Wei X, Liu C, Wang H, Wang L, Xiao F, Guo Z, et al. Surface phosphatidylserine is responsible for the internalization on microvesicles derived from hypoxia-induced

human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells into human endothelial cells. PLoS One 2016;11:e0147360.

- [62] Nakai W, Yoshida T, Diez D, Miyatake Y, Nishibu T, Imawaka N, et al. A novel affinity-based method for the isolation of highly purified extracellular vesicles. Sci Rep 2016;6:33935.
- [63] Lai RC, Tan SS, Yeo RW, Choo AB, Reiner AT, Su Y, et al. MSC secretes at least 3 EV types each with a unique permutation of membrane lipid, protein and RNA. J Extracell Vesicles 2016;5:29828.
- [64] Gentile M, Adrian T, Scheidler A, Ewald M, Dianzani F, Pauli G, et al. Determination of the size of HIV using adenovirus type 2 as an internal length marker. J Virol Methods 1994;48:43–52.
- [65] Chamberlain LH. Detergents as tools for the purification and classification of lipid rafts. FEBS Lett 2004;559:1–5.
- [66] Sonnino S, Prinetti A. Membrane domains and the "lipid raft" concept. Curr Med Chem 2013;20:4–21.
- [67] Pike LJ, Han X, Chung KN, Gross RW. Lipid rafts are enriched in arachidonic acid and plasmenylethanolamine and their composition is independent of caveolin-1 expression: a quantitative electrospray ionization/mass spectrometric analysis. Biochemistry 2002;41:2075–88.
- [68] Manni MM, Cano A, Alonso C, Goni FM. Lipids that determine detergent resistance of MDCK cell membrane fractions. Chem Phys Lipids 2015;191:68–74.
- [69] Martin RE, Elliott MH, Brush RS, Anderson RE. Detailed characterization of the lipid composition of detergent-resistant membranes from photoreceptor rod outer segment membranes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2005;46:1147–54.
- [70] van Gestel RA, Brouwers JF, Ultee A, Helms JB, Gadella BM. Ultrastructure and lipid composition of detergent-resistant membranes derived from mammalian sperm and two types of epithelial cells. Cell Tissue Res 2016;363:129–45.
- [71] Schuck S, Honsho M, Ekroos K, Shevchenko A, Simons K. Resistance of cell membranes to different detergents. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2003;100:5795–800.
- [72] Babiychuk EB, Draeger A. Biochemical characterization of detergent-resistant membranes: a systematic approach. Biochem J 2006;397:407–16.
- [73] Chen X, Jen A, Warley A, Lawrence MJ, Quinn PJ, Morris RJ. Isolation at physiological temperature of detergent-resistant membranes with properties expected of lipid rafts: the influence of buffer composition. Biochem J 2009;417:525–33.
- [74] Brugger B, Glass B, Haberkant P, Leibrecht I, Wieland FT, Krausslich HG. The HIV lipidome: a raft with an unusual composition. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2006;103:2641–6.
- [75] Kosaka N, Iguchi H, Yoshioka Y, Takeshita F, Matsuki Y, Ochiya T. Secretory mechanisms and intercellular transfer of microRNAs in living cells. J Biol Chem 2010; 285:17442–52.
- [76] Mittelbrunn M, Gutierrez-Vazquez C, Villarroya-Beltri C, Gonzalez S, Sanchez-Cabo F, Gonzalez MA, et al. Unidirectional transfer of microRNA-loaded exosomes from T cells to antigen-presenting cells. Nat Commun 2011;2:282.
- [77] van Niel G, Charrin S, Simoes S, Romao M, Rochin L, Saftig P, et al. The tetraspanin CD63 regulates ESCRT-independent and -dependent endosomal sorting during melanogenesis. Dev Cell 2011;21:708–21.
- [78] Colombo M, Moita C, Van NG, Kowal J, Vigneron J, Benaroch P, et al. Analysis of ESCRT functions in exosome biogenesis, composition and secretion highlights the heterogeneity of extracellular vesicles. J Cell Sci 2013;126:5553–65.
- [79] Phuyal S, Hessvik NP, Skotland T, Sandvig K, Llorente A. Regulation of exosome release by glycosphingolipids and flotillins. FEBS J 2014;281:2214–27.
- [80] Milhas D, Clarke CJ, Idkowiak-Baldys J, Canals D, Hannun YA. Anterograde and retrograde transport of neutral sphingomyelinase-2 between the Golgi and the plasma membrane. Biochim Biophys Acta 2010;1801:1361–74.
- [81] Hannun YA, Obeid LM. The ceramide-centric universe of lipid-mediated cell regulation: stress encounters of the lipid kind. J Biol Chem 2002;277:25847–50.
- [82] Ghossoub R, Lembo F, Rubio A, Gaillard CB, Bouchet J, Vitale N, et al. Syntenin-ALIX exosome biogenesis and budding into multivesicular bodies are controlled by ARF6 and PLD2. Nat Commun 2014;5:3477.
- [83] Laulagnier K, Grand D, Dujardin A, Hamdi S, Vincent-Schneider H, Lankar D, et al. PLD2 is enriched on exosomes and its activity is correlated to the release of exosomes. FEBS Lett 2004;572:11–4.
- [84] Alonso R, Rodriguez MC, Pindado J, Merino E, Merida I, Izquierdo M. Diacylglycerol kinase alpha regulates the secretion of lethal exosomes bearing Fas ligand during activation-induced cell death of T lymphocytes. J Biol Chem 2005;280:28439–50.
- [85] Glaser PE, Gross RW. Plasmenylethanolamine facilitates rapid membrane fusion: a stopped-flow kinetic investigation correlating the propensity of a major plasma membrane constituent to adopt an HII phase with its ability to promote membrane fusion. Biochemistry 1994;33:5805–12.
- [86] Li X, Rydzewski N, Hider A, Zhang X, Yang J, Wang W, et al. A molecular mechanism to regulate lysosome motility for lysosome positioning and tubulation. Nat Cell Biol 2016;18:404–17.
- [87] Niemela PS, Ollila S, Hyvonen MT, Karttunen M, Vattulainen I. Assessing the nature of lipid raft membranes. PLoS Comput Biol 2007;3:e34.
- [88] Dupuy AD, Engelman DM. Protein area occupancy at the center of the red blood cell membrane. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2008;105:2848–52.
- [89] Fuhrmann G, Serio A, Mazo M, Nair R, Stevens MM. Active loading into extracellular vesicles significantly improves the cellular uptake and photodynamic effect of porphyrins. J Control Release 2015;205:35–44.
- [90] Johnsen KB, Gudbergsson JM, Skov MN, Pilgaard L, Moos T, Duroux M. A comprehensive overview of exosomes as drug delivery vehicles - endogenous nanocarriers for targeted cancer therapy. Biochim Biophys Acta 2014;1846:75–87.
- [91] Batrakova EV, Kim MS. Development and regulation of exosome-based therapy products. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol 2016;8:744–57.
- [92] Ingato D, Lee JU, Sim SJ, Kwon YJ. Good things come in small packages: overcoming challenges to harness extracellular vesicles for therapeutic delivery. J Control Release 2016;241:174–85.

- [93] Abrami L, Brandi L, Moayeri M, Brown MJ, Krantz BA, Leppla SH, et al. Hijacking multivesicular bodies enables long-term and exosome-mediated long-distance action of anthrax toxin. Cell Rep 2013;5:986–96.
- [94] Huebner AR, Somparn P, Benjachat T, Leelahavanichkul A, Avihingsanon Y, Fenton RA, et al. Exosomes in urine biomarker discovery. Adv Exp Med Biol 2015;845:43–58.
- [95] Rak J. Extracellular vesicles biomarkers and effectors of the cellular interactome in cancer. Front Pharmacol 2013;4:21.
- [96] Stremersch S, De Smedt SC, Raemdonck K. Therapeutic and diagnostic applications of extracellular vesicles. J Control Release 2016;244:167–83.
- [97] Simpson RJ, Lim JW, Moritz RL, Mathivanan S. Exosomes: proteomic insights and diagnostic potential. Expert Rev Proteomics 2009;6:267–83.
- [98] Wang L, Skotland T, Berge V, Sandvig K, Llorente A. Exosomal proteins as prostate cancer biomarkers in urine: from mass spectrometry discovery to immunoassaybased validation. Eur J Pharm Sci 2017;98:80–5.
- [99] Nameta M, Saijo Y, Ohmoto Y, Katsuragi K, Yamamoto K, Yamamoto T, et al. Disruption of membranes of extracellular vesicles is necessary for ELISA determination of

urine AQP2: proof of disruption and epitopes of AQP2 antibodies. Int J Mol Sci 2016;17:1634.

- [100] Del Boccio P, Raimondo F, Pieragostino D, Morosi L, Cozzi G, Sacchetta P, et al. A hyphenated microLC-Q-TOF-MS platform for exosomal lipidomics investigations: application to RCC urinary exosomes. Electrophoresis 2012;33:689–96.
- [101] Min HK, Lim S, Chung BC, Moon MH. Shotgun lipidomics for candidate biomarkers of urinary phospholipids in prostate cancer. Anal Bioanal Chem 2011;399:823–30.
 [102] Kim H, Min HK, Kong G, Moon MH. Quantitative analysis of phosphatidylcholines
- [102] Kim H, Min HK, Kong G, Moon MH. Quantitative analysis of phosphatidylcholines and phosphatidylethanolamines in urine of patients with breast cancer by nanoflow liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Bioanal Chem 2009;393:1649–56.
- [103] Yang JS, Lee JC, Byeon SK, Rha KH, Moon MH. Size dependent lipidomic analysis of urinary exosomes from patients with prostate cancer by flow field-flow fractionation and nanoflow liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Chem 2017;89:2488–96.